RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **07-16-2019**

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP2220-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

ADAM W. VICE,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WASHBURN COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JOHN ANDERSON, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JENNIFER R. REMINGTON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1098838

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the circuit court err when it suppressed Defendant-Respondent Adam W. Vice's post-polygraph confession on the grounds that it was involuntary?

The circuit court suppressed Vice's confession as involuntary.

This Court should answer, "Yes."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication, as the arguments are developed in the briefs, and the issue presented involves the application of wellestablished principles.

INTRODUCTION

Vice confessed to sexually assaulting a four-year-old-girl during a post-polygraph interview. He later moved to suppress his confession on due process voluntariness grounds, and the circuit court granted his motion.

Post-polygraph statements are governed by *Davis*. State v. Davis, 2008 WI 71, 310 Wis. 2d 583, 751 N.W.2d 332. Davis says a post-polygraph confession is admissible when it "is given at an interview that is totally discrete from the [polygraph] test and the statement is voluntarily given." *Id*. ¶ 21. Courts consider numerous factors to determine if the confession is totally discrete from the polygraph test and voluntary.

This is not the first time this Court has ruled on Vice's confession. In 2016, the State appealed the circuit court's suppression of the same confession. This Court reversed the circuit court's order and remanded so the circuit court could perform a totality of the circumstances analysis to determine

whether Vice confessed voluntarily. *State v. Vice*, No. 2015AP2258-CR, 2016 WL 4766034 (Wis. Ct. App. Sept. 13 (2016) (unpublished). On remand, the circuit court again suppressed Vice's confession.

The circuit court erred. Applying *Davis*, Vice's post-polygraph confession was admissible because he confessed at an interview separate from his polygraph test, and his confession was voluntary.

Below, Vice conceded that he confessed at an interview separate from his polygraph test. This Court held Vice to his concession during the first appeal. He should again be held to his concession.

Even so, Vice confessed at an interview that was totally discrete from the polygraph test. Two officers were involved, one who administered the test, and one who investigated the sexual assault allegations, though both participated in the post-polygraph interview. Vice knew when the polygraph test ended, and after the test, an officer moved Vice to a different room. Roughly ten to fifteen minutes elapsed between the test and the post-test interview, and the results of Vice's polygraph were referenced only a few times, often in response to a question or statement from Vice. Thus, on the whole, Vice confessed at an interview separate from his polygraph test.

Vice's confession was also voluntary. The record contained no evidence that would raise any concern over Vice's personal characteristics. And there was no evidence that the police used coercion or other improper conduct to overbear Vice's will and elicit the confession. Thus, a balancing of Vice's personal characteristics against any possible police pressure shows that his confession was voluntary (i.e., the product of a free and unconstrained will).

Because the circuit court erred when it suppressed Vice's admissible confession, this Court should reverse.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The following facts largely come from testimony offered at the suppression hearing and from Vice's recorded polygraph test and his post-polygraph interview, which was transcribed. (R. 109; 128, A-App. 117–38.)) As this Court has already ruled on this issue once before, it could refer to its prior opinion for a factual overview. (R. 37); *Vice*, 2016 WL 4766034. A copy of that opinion is included in the appendix. (A-App. 156–168.)

A. The police open an investigation into Vice.

Officer William Fischer opened an investigation when a caretaker reported that a little girl, EJ, described being sexually assaulted by a family friend, Vice. (R. 1:3.) She was four years old at the time. (R. 1:3.) While being tucked into bed one night, EJ mentioned a "puppy game" she played with Vice. (R. 1:3.) As part of the game, Vice would lick EJ "all over her body," including her vagina and buttocks. (R. 1:4.) EJ also reported that Vice would touch her, including inserting his finger into her vagina and anus. (R. 1:4.)

Officer Fischer interviewed Vice at his workplace, and Vice denied any wrongdoing. (R. 109:44.) Vice asked Officer Fisher if "there was anything [he] could do to clear [his]

¹ The State cites to the transcript from the post-polygraph interview when quoting from it. There are multiple DVDs in the record. Based on the State's review, the DVDs marked 2019 22(3), 127(1-1), and 125(2) contain an audiovisual recording of Vice's post-polygraph interview. All appear to be the same. The DVD marked 125(3) contains an audiovisual recording of Vice's polygraph test. The DVD marked 2019 22(2) contains an audio recording of Vice answering background questions, like his address and phone number.

A DVD containing an audiovisual recording of the interview is also included in the record. (R. 127.)

name," and Officer Fisher suggested Vice take a polygraph test. (R. 109:45.)

B. Vice consents to a polygraph test.

Vice agreed to take a polygraph exam, and Officer Fisher arranged for it to be conducted at the police department. (R. 109:8.) Because Vice did not have a ride to the department, Officer Fisher drove him there. (R. 109:8.) During the drive, Vice sat in the front seat and made small talk with Officer Fisher. (R. 109:8.) On the way, Officer Fisher reminded Vice that he did not have to take the test, and Vice said he wanted to clear his name. (R. 109:8.)

At the department, Officer Fisher and Vice waited in the lobby until Detective Lambeseder, the officer responsible for conducting the polygraph test, led Vice to the polygraph examination room. (R. 109:10.) Officer Fisher went to the observation room. (R. 109:10.) Detective Lambeseder advised Vice of his *Miranda*² rights, and Vice signed both a waiver-of-rights form and a polygraph examination consent form. (R. 109:10, 27–28; 10.)

The polygraph exam lasted one hour and forty-five minutes. (R. 109:10.) At the end of the exam, Vice again signed the polygraph examination consent form. (R. 10:2.) The form notified Vice that his polygraph exam ended:

² Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

- 7. This examination was concluded at <u>11:40am</u> on the above date. I completely reaffirm, in its entirety, my above agreement. In addition, I knowingly and intelligently continue to waive my rights, including those listed in paragraph two above, and I willingly made all statements that I did make. I also understand that any questions I may be asked after this point in time, and any answers that I may give to those questions, are not part of the polygraph examination.
- 8. I also certify that during the entire time, I was well treated, submitted myself freely to the examination knowing that I could stop at any time I so desired by merely saying I wished to stop or that I wished to consult an attorney or any other person. I remained of my own free will, knowing that I could leave this room at any time I so desired, and that there were no threats, promises, or any harm whatsoever done to me during the entire period I have been here either in connection with the examination or my again signing of this agreement and release form.

Witness SubjetEXHIBIT # 2

DATE: 5-6-15

CASE # 14 CF166

(R. 10:2.)

Detective Lambeseder escorted Vice to a separate interview room and left him alone there for ten to fifteen minutes. (R. 109:10.) Detective Lambeseder scored the polygraph test and informed Officer Fisher that Vice failed it. (R. 109:11.) The two then went to interview Vice. (R. 109:11.)

C. Vice confesses to sexually assaulting EJ.

At the start of the interview, Detective Lambeseder asked Vice, "Well, how do you think you did?" (R. 128:2, A-App. 118.) Vice answered, "I don't know. I know for a fact that I'm telling the truth when I was telling the truth." (R. 128:2, A-App. 118.) Detective Lambeseder responded that the results indicated that Vice lied about his interactions with EJ:

[Detective Lambeseder]: Okay. Well, Adam, you didn't pass the exam, okay? You're right. You were telling the truth when you were telling the truth. You just said that, okay? The questions that I told you to tell the truth on, okay? But the questions regarding [EJ], it's very clear, Adam, that you weren't telling the truth, okay? And so that's where, Adam, we want to talk about that, okay? We want you to -- this has been weighing on you, and I can tell. And I can tell on the exam, okay? In fact, I can tell on your face it's been weighing on you. And I understand that, okay? It would -- something like that would weigh on me, but - okay? But now is the time let's talk like men. Let's

get it out there. And let's figure out, you know, just where we need to go from here, okay? [Officer Fisher] wants to talk to you about his case. And uh let's go forward. I've -- I've worked with [Officer Fisher] before. And I'm sure he's treated you decent --

[Vice]: Yeah.

[Detective Lambeseder]: -- this entire process, okay? And I treated you decent here, okay? We're not going to treat you any differently, okay? What we want is the truth. We're not going to lie to you. We don't want you to lie to us. Let's just get it out there. Let's -- let's help you out from here on, okay?

(R. 128:2–3, A-App. 118–19.)

Officer Fisher asked Vice if he understood and added that he could tell Vice had not been honest when they first spoke about the allegations. (R. 128:3–4, A-App. 119–120.) Vice did not deny the allegations and instead responded that he did not remember what happened but would be honest and would take the test again:

[Vice]: I'll be honest.

[Officer Fisher]: Yeah.

[Vice]: 100 percent honest and I'll take that test again. I do not remember doing this. I honestly do --

[Officer Fisher]: Adam.

[Vice]: -- and I will take the test, but --

[Detective Lambeseder]: Okay.

[Vice]: -- but -- but obviously I failed the test. Something's wrong. Is there a way or is it any possibility that I -- somehow I blacked out and not remember this?

(R. 128:4, A-App. 120.)

Detective Lambeseder answered, "You do remember doing it, otherwise you wouldn't react the way you did on the exam, okay." (R. 128:4–5, A-App. 120–21.) Detective

Lambeseder acknowledged that it was hard to tell the truth and admit to wrongdoing. (R. 128:5, A-App. 121.) He asked if Vice was "trying to explore a sexual fantasy" or had "watched some pornography," and Vice responded, "I never watched pornography with the kids." (R. 128:5, A-App. 121.)

Detective Lambeseder explained that he was not suggesting Vice watched pornography with the children, only that Vice may have watched it, got his hormones going, and "did something one day that [he] normally wouldn't do." (R. 128:5–6, A-App. 121–122.) Detective Lambeseder told Vice he needed to tell the truth: "[W]hat you need to do, Adam, is tell us the truth, okay? [Officer Fisher] comes to me for a reason. We've worked together. We -- we know what we're doing here, okay? It's - - it's apparent that you -- you know what you did." (R. 128:6, A-App. 122.) He also told Vice, "You know what you did was wrong, but you got to convey that to us, okay? Because what's left here . . . is for us to figure out what goes on from here, okay? Are you the guy who is going to do this to every little kid he comes in contact with?" (R. 128:6, A-App. 122.) Vice shook his head no. (R. 128:6, A-App. 122; R. 2019 22(3):12:02:24–12:02:27.)

Detective Lambeseder followed up, "No. Are you the guy who made a mistake, made a poor choice, and we need to deal with that appropriately as opposed to the guy who is going to do this to everybody." (R. 128:6, A-App. 122.) Vice answered, "I'm not going to do that." (R. 128:6, A-App. 122.) He added, "I don't know why I would do it -- first one, apparently." (R. 128:6, A-App. 122.)

Vice then asked several questions relating to potential consequences:

[Vice]: [A]m I going to go to jail?

[Officer Fisher]: No, you're not going to jail.

[Vice]: Am I going to have to register as a sex offender?

[Officer Fisher]: That's -- that's a long ways down the road. And that has to deal with - -

. . . .

[Officer Fisher]: going through court and talking to the Judge and things like that.

[Vice]: So I take it I can't move to go see my mother now?

[Officer Fisher]: But first we need to, you know, get the truth out there and the facts so that way it shows you are willing to work and cooperate, get the help that you need.

[Detective Lambeseder]: That goes a long ways.

(R. 128:7, A-App. 123.)

Officer Fisher told Vice that if he cooperated, they could work with him and try to get him the help he needed. (R. 128: 7, A-App. 123.) Detective Lambeseder said he could understand when people make mistakes, but he could not understand when a person made a mistake and refused to talk or lied about it. (R. 128:7–8, A-App. 123–24.) Vice did not deny the allegations and again stated that he did not remember what happened:

[Vice]: I -- I'm going to say flat out, I honestly don't remember doing this, but I'm going to do what you say.

[Detective Lambeseder]: You do, Adam. It's true. I see you wouldn't react like that, so let's get over that hurdle, okay? I know you've -- what -- probably what you want to do is you want to block it out because it was a bad mistake. Buddy, I understand that, Man, okay?

[Vice]: How do you get out of that? Because I honestly can't remember, and it's scaring me right now --

[Detective Lambeseder]: The heart -- the way you get out of a situation is you say I screwed up, Guys. Let's -- help me out here.

. . . .

[Detective Lambeseder]: Then we can help you out, okay? But without you saying I screwed up or admitting, you know, what you did and understanding that, and getting us to understand that, we can't help you. Get over that hurdle and we can -- we can work with you on that, okay?

(R. 128:8, A-App. 124.)

Officer Fisher told Vice, "The reason you reacted that way is because you know you did it. And that's why the reactions were that way." (R. 128:8–9, A-App. 124–25.) Vice said he was scared, and Officer Fisher offered, "You're thinking of the consequences." (R. 128:9, A-App. 125.) Vice stated, "No. I'm not thinking of the consequences. I'm worried about what else I'm blocking out. If I can't -- I'm -- I'm trying hard to remember this." (R. 128:9, A-App. 125.)

The officers asked Vice to be truthful and to cooperate:

[Detective Lambeseder]: . . . the thing is, it's --you're trying to block it out but it's not blocked out, okay? Because you've reacted. You -- you know what you did and you -- and you remember it, okay? It's a hard hurdle to overcome, okay? But, Adam, I want to help you out. I want to work with you. I want to talk to you about this. You just got to meet us there and show us -- show us that you understand you messed up, okay? Otherwise we're left to think the other thing. I don't want to think that about you, Adam.

[Vice]: No. I want to --

[Officer Fisher]: And that what the District Attorney, Judges, all that, they need to protect everyone.

[Vice]: Yes, I understand that.

[Officer Fisher]: And, you know, and that's what they're going to look at saying this guy, he's dangerous, he's -- all these other kids out there that he may have access to. We need to protect them.

[Detective Lambeseder]: Yes.

[Officer Fisher]: You know, but if it's an isolated mistake, you know, because just circumstances being what they were at that time, then they can deal with that. You know, and they can say okay, we can allow him to be in the community, you know. And that's for them to decide, but you have to give them that option.

[Detective Lambeseder]: Yeah. Can you do that for us right now?

(R. 128:9–10, A-App. 125–26.)

Vice said, "Yes," and Detective Lambeseder questioned, "Be truthful?" (R. 128:10, A-App. 126.) Vice again said, "Yes", and Detective Lambeseder told him to "[g]o ahead." (R. 128:10, A-App. 126.) Vice confessed: "It's going to sound really shitty for me to say this right now, but I sexually assaulted [EJ]." (R. 128:10, A-App. 126.) That confession occurred roughly eight minutes into the interview.

Detective Lambeseder asked Vice if he could explain what he did, and Vice said, "No, I cannot. I honestly can't." (R. 128:10, A-App. 126.) Detective Lambeseder asked Vice to "work [them] through it." (R. 128:10, A-App. 126.) Vice stated, "I never fucking remember. I -- my whole body's reacting to it. Why can't I fucking remember?" (R. 128:11, A-App. 127.) Detective Lambeseder offered, "It's okay, bud," and Vice responded that he felt like he would throw up. (R. 128:11, A-App. 127.) Officer Fisher offered him tissues and a wastebasket. (R. 128:11, A-App. 127.)

Vice questioned whether he could have been drunk at the time and suggested that he had a bottle of liquor in his room that he would drink from every now and then. (R. 128:11, A-App. 127.) He repeatedly expressed that he could not remember. (R. 128:11, A-App. 127–28.) Detective Lambeseder acknowledged that this was "a hard thing to talk about," and Vice responded, "I would tell you if I knew, but I

-- I'll – I'll admit that I must have done it because obviously that's what the test says that I did it, but I don't physically remember." (R. 128:13, A-App. 129.) Vice expressed that his heart was racing and told himself to "think." (R. 128:13, A-App. 129.)

Vice recounted spending thanksgiving with EJ and her family, but he claimed he did not remember assaulting EJ: "And I do not remember anything involving this situation whatsoever. I'm trying to remember. And obviously somehow in my subconscious I remember and I'm just trying to block it out and it won't come out." (R. 128:15, A-App. 131.)

Officer Fisher asked Vice about the time he spent with EJ in October. (R. 128:15, A-App. 131.) Vice described going to the pumpkin patch with EJ and later playing video games alone but said that was all he remembered. (R. 128:15–16, A-App. 131–32.) Officer Fisher asked Vice if EJ slept downstairs, and Vice said he did not remember. (R. 128:16, A-App. 132.) Officer Fisher told Vice that acting like he did not remember would not help him:

[Officer Fisher]: Okay. But they did sleep downstairs in October, also. And if you know -- if you don't remember or you're saying you don't remember, that's not going to help you out at all. I mean, because we can't have people running around doing things they can't remember and aren't responsible for, you know? That's not good.

[Vice]: I don't know --

[Officer Fisher]: So we need --

[Vice]: I honestly don't know if I tried to keep her quiet or why doesn't the older one remember? Why?

(R. 128:16–17, A-App. 132–33.) Detective Lambeseder replied, "Adam, like I said, okay, it shows on the test that you remember, okay?" (R. 128:17, A-App. 133.) Officer Fisher told

Vice that EJ had demonstrated what he did to her, and he encouraged Vice to take responsibility:

[Officer Fisher]: We have this girl, you know, in her -- her interview, I mean, physically demonstrating, describing, naming you. I mean, it happened. You remember it happening. I mean, I know it's tough to admit.

[Vice]: But I don't know if I actually --

[Officer Fisher]: And by saying you don't remember, you're -- you're trying to push that off and put that -- not take responsibility for it, but you need to take responsibility for it because it happened. And we need to protect this girl. We need her to be better. We need you to get help. And so that way the rest of society can function with you in it, you know?

(R. 128:17–18, A-App. 133–34.)

Vice responded, "I don't know what I did. I honestly don't. I don't know if I took her clothes off, if she was in her underwear, if I tried licking her over her pants or her underwear, if I actually touched her, or if I took my pants off --." (R. 128:18, A-App. 134.) Detective Lambeseder asked Vice if direct questions about the assault might help him remember, and Vice agreed it would. (R. 128:18, A-App. 134.) Vice then confessed to placing his finger on her vagina:

[Officer Fisher]: Sure. Did you take your fingers and place them in -- or underneath her -- [EJ's] underwear on -- directly on her vagina?

[Vice]: Yes.

[Detective Lambeseder]: You're recalling that now?

[Vice]: Sort of.

[Detective Lambeseder]: Ok.

[Vice]: Like I see myself going, like, with just one finger going through her front and going like this (indicating).

[Detective Lambeseder]: Okay.

[Officer Fisher]: Sure. You remember that?

[Vice]: I think, yes.

[Officer Fisher]: I mean, you do. You just described it and -- and that's what happened, right?

[Vice]: Yes.

(R. 128:19, A-App. 135.)

When asked if he tried "to lick her vagina," Vice answered, "I don't know. I don't think so. I'm trying --." (R. 128:20, A-App. 136.) Officer Fisher asked if Vice tried to "pull down her pants to do that," and Vice responded, "I think I tried just pulling on her pants so I could get my hand down her pants a little easier. Oh, God. I'm sick." (R. 128:20, A-App. 136.)

The officers acknowledged that this was "hard to talk about" but said they would "walk through this together." (R. 128:20, A-App. 136.) Vice asked if he tried "having sex with her?" (R. 128:21, A-App. 137.) The officers responded that Vice needed to tell them what happened. (R. 128:21, A-App. 137.) Vice denied trying to have sex with EJ but admitted to trying to lick her vagina:

[Officer Fisher]: Well, I remember -- I know you remember what you told us, but you remember the events that happened?

[Vice]: Yes. Just -- just that -- to that point. I -- I don't know if I tried to lick her crotch first or after.

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