**RECEIVED** 10-23-2020 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

Appeal No. 2018AP2220-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

ADAM W. VICE,

Defendant-Respondent

On review of a decision of the Court of Appeals, District III, affirming an order suppressing evidence, entered in the Circuit Court for Washburn County, the Honorable John P. Anderson, presiding

# **BRIEF OF THE DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT** ADAM W. VICE

Frederick A. Bechtold State bar number 1088631 490 Colby Street Taylors Falls, MN 55084 (651) 465-0463

Attorney for the Defendant-Respondent

# I.

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

### VI. Argument.

# A. Vice's polygraph examination and post-polygraph interview were not two "totally discrete events."

The law with regard to polygraph evidence is one of unconditional inadmissibility. *State v. Dean*, 103 Wis.2d 228, 307 N.W.2d 628 (1981). While "the results of polygraph examinations are not admissible in criminal proceedings, ... persons accused of crime can take them voluntarily in an effort to lift the cloud of suspicion. Anything that a defendant says during what is considered to be part of the polygraph examination is not admissible." *State v. Greer*, 2003 WI App 112, ¶9, 265 Wis.2d 463, 666 N.W.2d 518. (citations omitted). Statements that a defendant makes after the polygraph examination is over, however, may be admissible. *State v. Johnson*, 193 Wis.2d 382, 388, 535 N.W.2d 441 (Ct. App. 1995).

While voluntary polygraph examinations may lift a cloud of suspicion over persons accused of crimes, polygraph examinations have an additional attraction for law enforcement in helping to elicit confessions from suspects,<sup>1</sup> as evidenced by the numerous cases involving post-polygraph confessions. *See*, *McAdoo v. State*, 65 Wis.2d 596, 223 N.W.2d 521 (1974), *State v. Schlise*, 86 Wis.2d 26, 271

See, the American Psychiatric Association white paper by Kassin, S. M., Drizin, S. A., Grisso, T., Gudjonsson, G. H., Leo, R. A., & Redlich, A. D., Police-Induced Confessions: Risk Factors and Recommendations. 34(3) Law and Human behavior 1, 15 (2010) (Res-App. 84) ("Although it is best known for its use as a lie detector test, and value as an investigative tool, post test 'failure' feedback is often used to pressure suspects and can prompt false confessions.").

N.W.2d 619 (1978), State v. Johnson, supra, State v. Greer, supra, and *State v. Davis*, 2008 WI 71, 310 Wis.2d 583, 751 N.W.2d 332.<sup>2</sup>

From these cases a framework has developed for determining in when post-polygraph statements are admissible criminal proceedings. That framework involves a two-step analysis. First, there is a threshold determination as to whether the polygraph examination and the incriminating statement were the product of one event, or two "totally discrete" events. **Davis**, 2008 WI 71, ¶2. "When a statement is so closely associated with the voice stress [or polygraph] analysis that the analysis and statement are one event rather than two events, the statement must be suppressed." Id. If the statement survives this first

**Davis** was not a polygraph case, but rather a voice stress analysis case. However, this Court wrote that "we see no reason at this time to treat these two methods of 'honesty testing' differently." **Davis**, 2008 WI 71, ¶20.

The State argues that discreteness is not at issue in this appeal, asserting that Vice needed to file a cross-petition if he wished to argue the discreteness prong of Davis on review. (State's Brief, p. 24 fn. 5). Not so. "A petition for cross-review is not necessary to enable an opposing party to defend the court of appeals' ultimate result or outcome based on any ground, whether or not that ground was ruled upon by the lower courts, as long as the supreme court's acceptance of that ground would not change the result or outcome below." Wis. Stat. Rule § 809.62(3m)(b)1. The State misreads **State v. Sulla**, 2016 WI 46, 369 Wis.2d 225, 880 N.W.2d 659. Sulla, the appellant, sought to raise additional issues on review which would have changed the result or outcome in the circuit court. Vice, on the other hand, is merely offering an alternative legal ground for affirming the decisions of the circuit court and Court of Appeals. As per Wis. Stat. Rule § 809.62(3)(e), Vice made clear in his Response to the State's Petition for Review that he intended to argue the discreteness prong of **Davis**. (Response pp. 19-27). Vice, who has been the respondent in all stages of this appeal, may advance any legal argument that will sustain the trial court's ruling. State v. Darcy N.K., 218 Wis. 2d 640, 581 N.W.2d 567 (Ct. App. 1998). Ultimately, "an appellate court is concerned with whether a court decision being reviewed is correct, rather than with the reasoning employed by the circuit court. If the holding is correct, it should be sustained." State v. Baudhuin, 141 Wis. 2d 642, 648, 416 N.W.2d 60 (1987).

test, then, "as is the case with any statement, the statement must also survive constitutional due process considerations of voluntariness." *Id.* 

"The touchstone of admissibility is whether the interviews eliciting the statements are `found to be totally discrete from the examination which precedes them." *Davis*, 2008 WI 71, ¶29, *quoting Greer*, 2003 WI App 112, ¶10. "Stated another way, statements that a defendant makes after he or she takes a polygraph examination will be suppressed if `[t]he post-mechanical interview was so closely associated with the mechanical or electronic testing, both as to time *and content*, that it must be considered as one event." *Greer*, 2003 WI App 112, ¶10, citing *Schlise*, 86 Wis.2d at 42 (emphasis added). To assist in making this determination the courts have developed a five-factor analysis:

- (1) whether the defendant was told the test was over;
- (2) whether any time passed between the analysis and the defendant's statement;
- (3) whether the officer conducting the analysis differed from the officer who took the statement;
- (4) whether the location where the analysis was conducted differed from where the statement was given; and
- (5) whether the voice stress analysis [or polygraph examination] was referred to when obtaining a statement from the defendant.

**Davis**, 2008 WI 71, ¶23 (formatting altered). The test is a totality of the circumstances test; so no one factor will trump the other elements.

In this case Vice signed a form with boilerplate language to the effect that the test was over. (R.10:2). While in other cases this has proved dispositive, (e.g., Greer, 2033 WI App. 112,  $\P$  4), this case differs from those which have preceded it, in that, while Vice may have signed a form stating that the polygraph examination was over, the polygraph examiner then proceeded to attend the post-polygraph interview, and in

the course of that interrogation made repeated and constant references to the polygraph examination and its results. He did so as an integral and essential part of his interrogation strategy, and in the process blurred the distinction between the polygraph examination and postpolygraph interview.

That is a fact scenario which had never before been presented to a Wisconsin court. Prior decisions, however, suggest that constant and repeated references to the polygraph examination results will breakdown the separation between the polygraph examination and the post-polygraph interview such that the two events can no longer be deemed "totally discrete." In **Davis**, this Court found that a voice stress analysis, and statements made during a post-analysis interview, were totally discrete events. Pertinent to this conclusion was that "[t]wo different officers were involved—one conducted the examination and the other conducted the interview," that "[t]he interviewing officer did not refer to the polygraph examination or its results during the interview, and the examination and interview took place in different rooms." **Davis**, 2008 WI 71, ¶30-31. "[W]here there is a distinct break between the two events and the post-polygraph interview does not specifically relate back to the ... test, the events are sufficiently attenuated." *Id. quoting Johnson*, 193 Wis.2d at 389 (emphasis added).

In **Johnson** it was significant to a finding that the polygraph examination and post-polygraph interview were two totally discrete events that "the police officer did not refer back to the polygraph examination or tell the defendant that he failed the test during postexamination questioning in order to elicit an incriminating statement." **Johnson**, 193 Wis.2d at 389. Only in **Schlise** was there a situation in which a polygraph examiner participated in the post-examination

Filed 10-23-2020

interview and made frequent references to the polygraph examination, and in *Schlise* the post-examination statements were suppressed. *Davis*, 2008 WI 71, ¶27.

This is not a case where the detectives made a single reference to the polygraph results at the end of the polygraph examination. E.g. Greer, 2003 WI App 112, ¶6. Here the detectives made at least eleven references to the polygraph results during the post-polygraph interview, at what the circuit court considered a "fairly continuous" rate. (R.124:9; Res-App. 48). The results of the polygraph examination were most certainly being "referred to when obtaining a statement from the defendant." **Davis**, 2008 WI 71, ¶23. And these were not passing references to the results, in which the detectives were merely relaying to Vice that he failed the polygraph examination. The polygraph results were used by the detectives as an integral part of their interrogation strategy, further helping to blur the distinction between the polygraph examination and the post-polygraph interview. Further, most of these references were being made by the polygraph examiner, which is also a relevant factor under the analysis, "whether the officer conducting the analysis differed from the officer who took the statement." **Davis**, 2008 WI 71, ¶23.

Vice's argument is actually quite simple, the detectives through their repeated and constant references to the polygraph examination during the interrogation, broke down any separation in "time and content" which may have existed between the two events, such that they can no longer be deemed two "totally discrete events."

Why, after all, does this Court require that post-polygraph interviews be "totally discrete" from the examinations which precedes them? Vice would argue that at least part of the reason is that this

Court does not want evidence that the defendant took and failed a polygraph examination entering the courtroom. The rule in Wisconsin regarding polygraph evidence is one of unconditional inadmissibility. **Dean**, supra. But in Vice's case, as the circuit court observed, it will be difficult, if not impossible, to admit Vice's confession into evidence while keeping out that Vice had failed a polygraph examination. (R.122:93-94 and R.124:6-7; Res-App. 45-46). The problem here is two-fold.

First, as the circuit court found, the references to the polygraph results were "fairly continuous." (R.124:9; Res-App. 48). Consequently, the statements by the detectives concerning the polygraph results are so "intertwined" with the confession, that the circuit court twice stated that it doubted whether the interview could be redacted so as to keep that particular information out. (R.122:93-94 and R.124:6-7; Res. App. 45-46). There is a risk, as the circuit court put it, of "poisoning the jury well with this whole idea that, you know, oh, he took a polygraph and the polygraph is accurate and, therefore, he's guilty." Id. But second, and perhaps more important, by conducting the post-polygraph interview in the manner they did, the detectives ensured that evidence of Vice's having failed a polygraph examination will be presented to the jury if he argues at trial that his confession was involuntarily given. Under State ex rel. Goodchild v. Burke, 27 Wis.2d 244, 265, 133 N.W.2d 753 (1965), even if a confession is held by the courts to be voluntary, challenges to the confession's voluntariness may be still be presented to the jury for its independent consideration. In Vice's situation, that will necessarily require presenting evidence concerning the manner in which the interrogators used the polygraph results to convince Vice the he must have committed the sexual assault because "the test says I did it." (R.128:13; Res-App. 13).

Law enforcement should not be able to structure their interrogations so as to present the defendant with a Hobson's choice of either introducing otherwise inadmissible evidence that he failed a polygraph examination in order to demonstrate his confession was coerced, or alternatively, having to concede the voluntariness of his confession, and hence his guilt, in order to keep the evidence of the polygraph results from reaching the jury. This, of course, is no choice at all. If the confession is admitted into evidence, then State can expect the polygraph results to be presented to the jury as well. Structuring an interrogation in such a manner subverts the rule of unconditional inadmissibility for polygraph examination results. The fact that Vice may be presented with such a choice clearly demonstrates that the polygraph examination was not sufficiently attenuated from the statements which were elicited from him during the interrogation. These were not two "totally discrete events."

## B. Vice's confession was involuntarily given.

The voluntariness of a confession is a question of constitutional fact. When presented with questions of constitutional fact the reviewing court examines two determinations of the trial court, but applies a different standard of review to each. "First, we review the circuit court's findings of historical fact under the clearly erroneous

That is assuming Vice is even able to present evidence that the detectives used the polygraph results to coerce his confession. *Dean* might preclude the admission of such evidence. *But* see, *People v. Melock*, 149 Ill.2d 423, 599 N.E.2d 941 (1992), for the proposition that precluding the admission of polygraph evidence when voluntariness is at issue would deny the defendant a fair trial.

standard. Second, we independently apply constitutional principles to these historical facts." *State v. Wright*, 2019 WI 45, ¶22, 386 Wis.2d 495, 926 N.W.2d 157. With regard to the historical facts, it is for the trial court to resolve any conflicts in the testimony and to draw any reasonable inferences; the appellate courts should "search the record for evidence to support the findings that the trial court made, not for findings that the trial court could have made but did not." *Glob. Steel Prod. Corp. v. Ecklund*, 2002 WI App 91, ¶10, 253 Wis. 2d 588, 644 N.W.2d 269.

"A defendant's statements are voluntary if they are the product of a free and unconstrained will, reflecting deliberateness of choice, as opposed to the result of a conspicuously unequal confrontation in which the pressures brought to bear on the defendant by representatives of the State exceeded the defendant's ability to resist." *State v. Hoppe*, 2003 WI 43, ¶36, 261 Wis.2d 294, 661 N.W.2d 407. The courts must "inquire whether the statements were the result of coercion or otherwise improper conduct by law enforcement." *Id.* at ¶37. "If neither coercion nor other improper conduct was used to secure the statement, it is deemed voluntary." *Id.* 

The courts apply a "totality of the circumstances standard to determine whether a statement was made voluntarily." *Id.* The courts "must balance the personal characteristics of the defendant, such as age, education, intelligence, physical or emotional condition, and prior experience with law enforcement, with the possible pressures that law enforcement could impose. … Possible pressures to consider include the length of questioning, general conditions or circumstances in which the statement was taken, whether any excessive physical or psychological pressure was used, and whether any inducements, threats, methods, or

strategies were utilized in order to elicit a statement from the defendant." *Id.* at ¶¶38-39. Moreover, in cases where the statement was elicited following a polygraph examination, "[a]n important inquiry [in determining voluntariness] continues to be whether the test result was referred to in order to elicit an incriminating statement." *Davis*, 2008 WI 71, ¶42;

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